### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

CASE NO.	71,830	
TFB NO.	88-10,198	(20A)

v.

JOHN J. SCHILLER,

Respondent.

# THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

THOMAS E. DEBERG Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821

# PAGE CASES

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

Following notification that a grievance had been filed against him and that a trust account audit would be sought, respondent voluntarily went to The Florida Bar Association and disclosed that there was a deficit in his trust account. He estimated the deficit to be approximately \$10,000.00. Prior to meeting with The Florida Bar, respondent had deposited \$9,000.00 of his personal funds toward the aforementioned deficit. (RA, p.10, L.7; RR, p.1). A subsequent audit of the respondent's trust account for the period of June 1982 through October 30, 1987 disclosed deficits throughout the period audited. In 1983 and until approximately June 6, 1986 the shortage was less than \$1,000.00. From January 6, 1986 through September 21, 1987 the deficit increased steadily to a high of \$29,292.23 on September 21, 1987. (RA, p.11, L.21; RR, p.1). Following a determination by The Florida Bar auditor of the exact amount of the deficit, respondent borrowed the money to cover the entire shortage. (TR 1, p.27, L.15-19; TR 1, p.26, L.15-17; RR, p.1).

Respondent was aware, from at least approximately January 1986 through the time of his \$9,000.00 deposit on September 23, 1987, that he was writing checks on the trust account without authorization to do so. (TR 1, p.8, L.5-17). He admitted that over a period of time, he misappropriated substantial amounts of money to his own use. (TR 1, p.10, L.5-17). Trust money was

-1-

transferred into the respondent's operating account and used to pay office operating expenses. (TR 1, p.11, L.16-17).

Respondent misappropriated the trust money from amounts withheld from settlements to pay providers in personal injury actions. He rationalized to himself that his clients were off the hook because he had agreed to protect the bills, and therefore he was personally responsible if the providers made a for the funds. (TR 1, p.10, L.1-14). On occasion claim respondent deposited a nominal amount towards the deficit, an amount which he felt he could afford at the time of the deposit. (TR 1, p.17, L.6-16; TR 1, p.22, L.19-25 and p.23, L.1-4). Only after he was aware that The Florida Bar was going to audit did he borrow the money to cover the deficit. (TR 1, p.18, L.2-13, TR 1, p.17, L.17-25). He did not borrow the money earlier to cover the deficit although he knew he was misappropriating client funds. (TR 1, p.18, L.12-14). Respondent was clearly aware that he was misappropriating trust monies which he should have sent to physicians. (TR 1, p.16, L.23-24). Respondent knew, at least by the early part of 1986, that he was writing checks which he was not authorized by his client to write, and which his client would not have wanted him to write. (TR 1, p.17, L.2-5).

Although respondent was aware in both 1986 and 1987 that his trust accounts were not in substantial compliance with the Rules and Regulations of The Florida Bar, when he submitted his payment of Bar dues in 1986 and 1987, he certified that his

-2-

trust accounts were in substantial compliance with those rules and regulations. (TR 1, p.9, L.8-20).

In the discipline proceeding held on June 1, 1988, the referee found respondent quilty of the following violations: Rule 5-1.1 (Integration Rule 11.02(4) before January 1, 1987) (Utilization of client trust funds for purposes other than those for which they were entrusted); Rule 5-1.2(B)(5)a (Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2.e.(i) before January 1, 1987 and Integration Rule 11.02(4)(c)2.c. before July 1, 1984) (failure to adequately identify all disbursements from trust accounts); Rule 5-1.2(b)(5) (Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2.e. before January 1, 1987) (failure to maintain and/or produce for inspection cash receipts and journals). Rule 5-1.2(b)(6)(Bvlaws Section disbursement 11.02(4)(c)2.f. before January 1, 1987 and Integration Rule (failure to 11.02(4)(c)2.d. before July 1, 1984) maintain separate ledger cards for all clients); Rule 5-1.2(c)(1), (2), (Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)3.a., b., and c. before and (3) January 1, 1987 and Integration Rule 11.02(4)(c)4.a. before July 1, 1984) (failure to prepare trust account reconciliations and/or produce said reconciliations for inspection); Rule 4-1.15(a) (DR 9-102(A) before January 1, 1987) (commingling); Rule 4-1.15(b) (DR 9-102(B)(4) before January 1, 1987) (failure to promptly pay or deliver to a client trust funds which the client is entitled (engaging in illegal conduct receive); DR 1-102(A)(3)to involving moral turpitude); DR 1-102(A)(6)(engaging in conduct

-3-

adversely reflecting on his fitness to practice law) (committing a criminal act reflecting on his honesty and fitness as a lawyer); Rule 4-8.4(c)(dishonesty). (RR, p.2).

The referee recommended that the respondent be disciplined That respondent be suspended from the practice of as follows: law for a period of twenty-four (24) months and thereafter until he proves rehabilitation; that prior to reinstatement, respondent retake and successfully pass the portion of The Florida Bar examination on legal ethics and, in addition, successfully complete a CLE or Bar trust accounting course; that upon readmission to the Bar he be placed on one (1) year probation, with quarterly reports of his trust account being completed by a addition, The Florida Bar. In he and submitted to CPA recommended that prior to readmission respondent should be required to account for all trust funds currently in his possession and to show that they have been disbursed to the appropriate parties. He further recommended that the respondent pay all costs incurred by The Florida Bar in these disciplinary proceedings.

The Florida Bar Board of Governors, having reviewed the Report of Referee and attached exhibits, along with portions of the transcripts of proceedings, voted to seek disbarment in this matter.

-4-

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent misappropriated over \$29,000.00 from his trust (RA, p.11, L.21; RR, p.1). The money misappropriated account. was taken from amounts withheld from clients' settlement checks to pay physicians whom had been given letters of protection by the respondent. (TR 1, p.10, L.1-14). Although aware that he was misappropriating client monies, and that there were deficits in his trust account, respondent did not replace the monies which he had taken until after he was aware of an upcoming Florida Bar (TR 1, p.18, L.2-14; TR 1, p.17, L.17-25). Further, audit. respondent on two (2) occasions submitted certified statements to The Florida Bar Association indicating that his trust accounts were in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar even though he was aware of the deficits. (TR 1, p.9, L.8-20).

The referee's recommendation is that respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of twenty-four (24) months and thereafter until he proves rehabilitation; that prior to reinstatement, respondent retake and successfully pass the portion of The Florida Bar examination on legal ethics, and, in addition, successfully complete a CLE or Bar trust accounting course; that upon readmission to the Bar he be placed on one (1) year probation, with quarterly reports of his trust account being completed by a CPA and submitted to The Florida Bar. In

-5-

addition, the referee recommends that prior to readmission respondent should be required to account for all trust funds currently in his possession and to show that they have been disbursed to the appropriate parties. The referee further recommends that the respondent pay all costs incurred by The Florida Bar in these disciplinary proceedings. The recommended discipline is not an appropriate disciplinary measure for the misappropriation of monies withheld from client knowing settlement checks, particularly where the attorney has issued letters of protection to the individuals to whom those monies were due.

Respondent has paid back all misappropriated monies and did so prior to the final hearing. He cooperated with The Florida Bar after he was aware there was going to be an audit. However, the respondent's knowing and prolonged misappropriation of client his with his breech of fiduciary monies when coupled responsibility to those to whom he gave letters of protection, and with his knowing misrepresentation to The Florida Bar Association that his trust accounts were in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, warrants disbarment.

Therefore, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Court disapprove the referee's recommendation of a two (2) year suspension and its associated conditions, and order the respondent disbarred from the practice of law in the State of Florida.

-6-

#### ARGUMENT

ISSUE: WHETHER A TWO (2) YEAR SUSPENSION, FOLLOWED BY A YEAR OF PROBATION, IS A SUFFICIENT DISCIPLINARY SANCTION FOR AN ATTORNEY WHO KNOWINGLY MISAPPROPRIATES TRUST MONIES WITHHELD FROM SETTLEMENT CHECKS, FAILING TO DISTRIBUTE THOSE MONIES TO INDIVIDUALS WHOM HAVE BEEN GIVEN LETTERS OF PROTECTION.

It is uncontested that the respondent misappropriated client trust money, (TR 1, p.10, L.5-17) and that he did so knowingly over a period that extended from at least early 1986 through approximately September 21, 1987. (TR 1, p.8, L.5-17). The deficit in the trust account reached as high as \$29,292.23. It is further well established that respondent issued letters of protection to physicians in personal injury cases, and then misappropriated the monies owed to those physicians. (TR 1, p.10, L.1-14). Additionally, when respondent submitted his annual Bar dues in 1986 and 1987, he misrepresented to The Florida Bar that his trust accounts were in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar although he knew that his representations were false. (TR 1, p.9, L.8-20).

There was no evidence presented that the misappropriation was related to substance abuse, emotional difficulties experienced by the respondent, alcoholism, or financial crises. Also there is no evidence to suggest any clients were harmed by the respondent's misconduct. All trust monies which had been

-7-

misappropriated were replaced prior to the time of the final hearing, and respondent subsequently has made his best efforts to disburse the money to those entitled thereto.

The two (2) year suspension ordered by the referee in the instant case is not without precedent. In The Florida Bar v. Breed, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979), no client was injured due to Breed's misappropriations. In Breed, the respondent utilized his client trust account as one of his sources to cover deficits created by a check kiting scheme in a non-client account. The referee in Breed concluded that the client trust account was short approximately \$7,816.00, and that Breed had converted clients' funds to his personal use. It was further found that Breed had engaged in a check kiting scheme, had failed to keep adequate records or reconcile the escrow accounts, that he commingled his funds with those of his clients, and that he misused and misappropriated his clients' funds. In recommending disbarment, the referee had stated that "while many disciplinary infractions involve situations where matters in mitigation should be considered, a violation involving misuse of clients' funds is not one of them. Recognizing restitution as a defense or in mitigation may help minimize client losses, but it should not mitigate the discipline." Id. at 785. The Supreme Court, on appeal, found that a two (2) year suspension with proper proof of rehabilitation before readmission was the appropriate discipline. The Court gave notice, however, to the legal profession that henceforth they would not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for

-8-

this type of offense even though no client is injured. Id.

In The Florida Bar v. Pincket, 398 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1981), the Court indicated that while it was not in any way retreating from the statement in Breed, it believed that it is appropriate determining the discipline to be imposed to take into in consideration circumstances surrounding the incident, including cooperation and restitution. Id. at 803. In Pincket, the attorney in a real estate transaction received approximately \$37,500.00 in escrow money for the sellers, but was thereafter unable to promptly account for and deliver the full amount to the sellers upon demand on respondent's trust account. In addition, the respondent was aware that other funds for which demand was made on his trust account were not available and that а continuing violation existed of Trust Accounting Rules. The respondent voluntarily reported the additional violation to the office of staff counsel of The Florida Bar, and was desirous of making full restitution and of continuing the practice of law. The Court noted that the respondent cooperated fully with The Florida Bar by voluntarily advising the Bar of the deficiency in his trust account, stipulated to a temporary suspension and entered an unconditional plea of guilty, thereby waiving both referee proceedings. Pincket made partial and grievance funds restitution, but did not fully restore trust misappropriated from an estate. The issue before the Court in Pincket was whether or not disbarment, recommended by The Board

-9-

of Governors, was too severe under the circumstances of the case. The Court indicated that, while not retreating from its position in <u>Breed</u>, it believed that it is appropriate to take into consideration circumstances surrounding the incident, including cooperation and restitution. <u>Id.</u> at 803. Pincket was suspended for two (2) years.

The instant case is similar in many respects to <u>Pincket</u>. Once Respondent became aware that in all probability his trust account would be audited, he came forward and admitted the misappropriation. Additionally he began making restitution. However, unlike Pincket, by the time of the final hearing he had fully replaced all trust funds which had been converted. He was cooperative during the proceedings, waiving the grievance committee hearing and admitting to the allegations at the referee level.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Morris, Jr.</u>, 415 So.2d 1274 (Fla. 1982), the respondent freely admitted that he had converted trust funds to his own use, knowing fully that he was invading trust funds. The Court found that <u>Morris</u>' conduct was similar to Pincket's, noting that Morris had voluntarily turned over his books and records to The Florida Bar, made restitution to one client, and additionally had voluntarily withdrawn from the practice of law. The Court order that the respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of two (2) years and that he be readmitted only upon proof of rehabilitation. Pincket and Morris provide support for the discipline

-10-

recommended by the referee in the instant case. Nevertheless, in Breed, 378 So.2d at 785, Justices England and Sundberg, dissenting, noted that the referee found that Breed woefully disregarded his fiduciary responsibility and that his act evidenced moral turpitude. Under the circumstances, they believed that the appropriate discipline was disbarment. In Morris, 415 So.2d at 1275, Justice Alderman, dissenting, stated that disbarment is the only appropriate discipline in this type of case. He further indicated that a lawyer who steals from his trust account is worse than a common thief, and that there is no place for such person in The Florida Bar. Justice Alderman had in a similar manner characterized the behavior of Pincket as theft.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Harris</u>, 400 So.2d 1220, 1222 (Fla. 1981), the Court found that a respondent who engages in a continuing and irresponsible pattern of conversion of client trust funds to his own use, failure to account for clients' trust funds and failure to maintain trust records should be disbarred. The Court noted that Harris' actions demonstrated an attitude wholly inconsistent with the high standards of the legal profession. In <u>Harris</u>, the respondent commingled his own funds with clients' funds during a period from November 1977 until sometime in 1979. He wrote several trust checks on the accounts when there were insufficient funds to cover those checks, and overdrew the trust account fifty-one (51) times. <u>Id.</u> at 1220. Additionally, respondent collected a \$4,000.00 settlement for his

-11-

client, deposited the money into his trust account and then issued a post dated check which subsequently was returned for insufficient funds. After the complaint regarding the insufficient funds was lodged against respondent, his client was sent a check to cover the amount due her. In another instance, the respondent failed to pay his client \$2,000.00 of the amount to which the client was entitled based on a settlement. The \$2,000.00 was paid after the grievance committee hearing. In another settlement case, the respondent converted \$27,427.00, representing his client portion of her father's estate. Under the circumstances of Harris, the Court ordered that the respondent be disbarred.

instant case can certainly be differentiated from The In the instant case, the respondent fully repaid all Harris. monies taken from the trust account prior to the final hearing, while in Harris full repayment was not made. However, repayment of misappropriated trust funds by a respondent when that the respondent believes his repayment is done only after considered misconduct will be discovered should never be To give less disciplines to someone because they are mitigating. able to repay suggests to the legal profession that if an attorney wishes to use client money for his own purposes, he should protect himself from the ultimate sanction by setting aside enough money, or having a good enough credit line, to make repayment if detected. Although the respondent in the instant case made a couple of deposits into the trust account prior to

-12-

the time that he knew The Florida Bar was going to audit, he deposited only what he "could afford to put in at that time". He did not at that time borrow the money to cover the full deficit even though he knew he was misappropriating client funds. (TR, p.18, L.12-13).

Because of the circumstances under which the trust accounts were eventually replenished, the replacement of monies therein should not be considered mitigating.

In the instant case, there is no indication that there was any damage to clients. Additionally, there were no complaints by individuals to whom trust monies should have been disbursed. To find these facts mitigating would be to reward the respondent for his style of misappropriation and skill in concealing his misconduct.

Respondent testified that his clients authorized him to withhold monies in settlement cases to pay various medical providers, and that he had issued letters of protection to those The monies withheld became funds providers. the that he He further stated that he rationalized misappropriated. to himself that since he was personally responsible to the providers if the providers made a claim for the funds, then he would be personally obligated to pay them. He felt the clients were off the hook since he had agreed to protect the bills. (TR, p.10, L.1-14). Hopefully the respondent would not argue to this Court that since he stole the money from physicians rather than clients, his conduct should not be considered as egregious.

-13-

The thefts are, in fact, even more reprehensible given that he had issued letters of protection to the physicians and thereby had a fiduciary responsibility to both the clients and the physicians. Respondent does testify that he honestly believed that he would be able to remedy the deficits in his trust account. Further he indicated that it was his intention that no client should ever suffer, and that the persons to whom the money was owed would not suffer. In light of the respondent's willingness to not honor letters of protection, the false statements regarding the status of his trust account which he submitted in two (2) consecutive years to The Florida Bar, and increase the amount of deficits the steady in due to misappropriations until the detection of the misconduct was imminent, the above statements by respondent should be seen as self serving at best.

The respondent testified that inspite of his knowledge that he had written a check when there were not sufficient client trust funds to cover that check, (TR, p.9, L.8-18), and although aware that he was misappropriating client trust monies (TR, p.9, L.15-17), he certified on his due statements in both 1986 and 1987 that his trust accounts were in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. (TR, p.9, L.8-20).

The time is long past due when the attorneys in the State of Florida should be given the clear message by the Florida Supreme Court that the knowing and intentional misappropriation

-14-

of trust monies by an attorney merits the maximum sanctions under the Rules. Attorneys should not be advised through the Court's decision in this case or in any other case that they can protect themselves from disbarment by assuring that they can pay back misappropriated money if caught, that they can avoid disbarment if they give letters of protection to those from whom they steal and are willing to pay the individuals the money owed to them if caught, or that they can make blatant and knowing misrepresentations regarding the status of their trust account in dues' statements to The Florida Bar and yet remain as members of the Bar.

The two (2) year suspension with its accompanying conditions as recommended by the referee fails to achieve the purpose for which sanctions are to be utilized. Given the frequency with which cases of misappropriation come before this Court, it is thedeterrence created by increasingly clear that past disciplines is insufficient. Creating a category of knowing theft which is somehow not worthy of disbarment because an attorney confesses when detection is imminent and can pay back what he misappropriated would weaken the deterrent value of discipline. It would also do little to create public confidence in the Bar's ability to police itself.

Based on the foregoing, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Court disapprove the referee's recommended

-15-

discipline of a suspension from the practice of law for a period of twenty-four (24) months and its accompanying conditions, and disbar respondent from the practice of law in this State.

#### CONCLUSION

The issue before this Court is whether or not a Two (2) Year Suspension, plus requiring that the respondent pass the Ethics portion of The Florida Bar exam prior to readmission, that he complete a course on Trust Accounting, and that he serve a one (1) year term of probation following readmission to the Bar is a sufficient discipline for an attorney who knowingly misappropriated client trust funds, but replaced the misappropriated money and cooperated with The Florida Bar after detection was imminent.

Florida Bar's position that the penalty It is The referee is not sufficient for the recommending by the respondent's misconduct in this case. The misappropriation was intentional, the monies were taken from physicians who had been given letters of protection, and the respondent submitted two certified statements to The Florida Bar indicating that his trust accounts were in compliance with trust accounting regulations even though he knew this was not true.

The only appropriate sanction for the respondent's misconduct is disbarment.

-17-

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Honorable Court disapprove the referee's recommended discipline and in lieu thereof disbar the respondent, JOHN J. SCHILLER, from the practice of law in this State.

E De Berg

THOMAS E. DEBERG Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar, Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821