IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA NOV. 8 1988

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk CASE NO. 71,830

TFB NO. 88-10198 (20A)

v.

JOHN J. SCHILLER,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN J. SCHILLER P.O. Box 2835 2263 Main St. Fort Myers, Florida 33902 (813) 332-3555

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The respondent accepts The Bar's statement of the case and of the facts with the following exceptions:

The report of the auditor indicates that he determined the maximum shortage in the respondent's trust account to be \$28,155.83 as of June 30, 1988. Thereafter, the amount of the deficiency decreased prior to the time. The Bar requested an audit of the respondent's trust account. Following the audit, the respondent discovered that certain sums due him as fees had not been credited him. After making the appropriate adjustments, the maximum shortage in the account \$26,752.64. The respondent made personal deposits into the account which balanced this shortage. (RR, p.1)

The Bar does not accurately state the Referee's determination that the respondent violated DR 1-102(A) (6). The Referee did not find that the respondent had "committed a criminal act reflecting on his honesty and fitness as a lawyer". (RR, p.2)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee in this case recommended that the respondent be suspended from the Florida Bar for a period of two years, followed by one years probation, successful completion of the Florida Bar Ethics examination, completion of a trust accounting course and quarterly reports of his trust account following any eventual reinstatement for the probationary year together with the payment of the costs of the disciplinary proceedings.

This recommended discipline is consistent with that given to other attorneys for similar violations and even exceeds the sanctions imposed in other recent cases.

The respondent requests that the Court adopt the disciplinary recommendations of the referee and believes the record supports the referee's recommendations.

#### ARGUMENT

ISSUE: SHOULD THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A SUSPEN-SION OF TWO (2) YEARS AND THEREAFTER UNTIL REHABILITATION; SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION OF THE FLORIDA BAR EXAMINATION ONLEGAL ETHICS: COMPLETION OF ACCOUNTING COURSE; ONE (1) YEAR PROBATION WITH QUARTERLY REPORTS OF TRUST ACCOUNTS SUBMITTED TO THE BAR; ACCOUNT-ALL TRUST FUNDS CURRENTLY IN THE RESPONDENT'S POSSESSION AND PAYMENT OF ALL COSTS INCURRED BY PROCEEDINGS ACCEPTED BEBY THE COURT AS AP-PROPRIATE DISCIPLINE IN THIS MATTER.

In the report of the referee issued on June 28, 1988, the referee made certain findings of fact and upon those findings made recommendations as to guilt and discipline pertaining to the allegations made in the Bar's Complaint against the respondent. The referee recommended that the respondent be found guilty of violations of nine (9) Rules of discipline. However, the referee made no findings of fact in the Report which supported the allegations that the respondent committed the technical violations of Rule 5-1.2(b) (5)a. (Bylaws Section 11.02 (4) (c) 2.e. (i) before January 1, 1987); Rule 5-1.2 (b) (5) Bylaws Section 11.02 (4) (c) 2.e. before January 1, 1987); Rule 5-1.2 (b) (6) (Bylaws Section 11.02 (4) (c) 2.f. before January 1, 1987); and Rule 5-1.2 (c) (1) (2) and (3) (Bylaws Section 11.02 (4) (c) 3.a. b. and c. before January 1, 1987).

The respondent conceded at the final hearing that he had violated the Rules as alleged in the Complaint. In fact, as the Bar concedes and the referee acknowledges in his report, the respondent requested

a meeting with counsel for the Bar and the Bar auditor for the purpose of disclosing his trust account problems and violations. (TR 1 p.24-26) The Bar concedes in it's brief that none of the respondent's clients have been harmed as a result of the respondent's admitted misconduct. The referee, in making his recommendation as to discipline in this case found that no clients had been directly damaged by the respondent's misappropriation and that no client had even complained of the respondent's conduct with regard to his funds or of any other matter related to the respondent's handling of his affairs.

The Bar also concedes that all money owed to clients or their medical providers had been properly repaid prior to the final hearing and the respondent has made his best efforts to properly disburse the money to those entitled to the receipt of the funds.

The referee found nine factors to be mitigating based on the evidence presented:

- 1. The respondent has no prior history of discipline.
- 2. Once aware of a requested audit, he immediately disclosed the amount he believed to be the misappropiation.
- 3. Prior to meeting with the Bar, he undertook to replace the estimated deficit.
- 4. By the time of the final hearing, he had replaced all the money misappropriated.
- 5. The respondent seemed genuinely remorseful.
- 6. The respondent appears to be a good candidate for rehabilitation.
- 7. No clients were directly damaged.
- 8. No complaints were filed against the respondent as a result of his conduct.
- 9. Once the deficit was made up, the respondent paid the trust funds to the providers entitled to them.

The discipline recommended by the referee in this matter is entirely consistent with that imposed by the Court in similar cases.

In The Florida Bar v. Pincket, 398 So. 2d 802 (Fla. 1981) the Court

rejected a petition by the Board of Governors that the respondent be disbarred. Instead, the Court imposed a two-year suspension despite the respondent's failing to make restitution to one client in the amount of \$21,000.00 and misappropriation of an additional \$37,500.00 from another client. The Court, in rejecting the demand for disbarment stated that it "believed that it is appropriate in determining the discipline to be imposed to take into consideration circumstances surrounding the incident, including cooperation and restitution. [Emphasis supplied] Id. at 803.

Cited in the <u>Pincket</u> case was the earlier case of <u>The Florida Bar</u> v. <u>Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979). Breed was involved in a check-kiting scheme involving in excess of \$70,000.00. The Court rejected the recommendation of the referee for disbarment and rejected as well the referee's contention that restitution "should not mitigate the discipline". Id. at 784. The Court recognized that

"each case must be assessed individually and in deter mining the punishment we should consider the punishment imposed on other attorneys for similar misconduct. To totally ignore these prior actions would allow caprice to substitute for reasoned consideration of the proper discipline." <u>Id</u>. at 785.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Morris</u>, 415 So.2d 1274 (Fla. 1982) the Court cited <u>Breed</u> and <u>Pincket</u> and rejected the referee's suggested six month suspension. The Court followed <u>Breed</u> and <u>Pincket</u> in imposing a two-year suspension despite Morris' failure to make complete restitution of an unknown sum to his clients, his parents.

In the last case cited by the Bar in its brief, <u>The Florida Bar v.</u>

<u>Harris</u>, 400 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1981) the attorney overdrew his trust account 51 times and committed numerous other violations. He was

charged in six separate complaints and <u>failed</u> to make restitution to his clients who lost over \$33,800.00. For this the Court disbarred Harris. In its brief, the Bar acknowledges that <u>Harris</u> can be differentiated from the present case. But the Bar seems to rely on <u>Harris</u> for the proposition that an attorney's restitution should not be considered a mitigating factor in determining the appropriate discipline. The Bar's position seems to require automatic disbarment in cases of misappropriation of funds. Followed to its logical conclusion, this position would provide very little incentive for an attorney to attempt to make restitution in these cases even if he was genuinely remorseful and he would instead probably continue to enjoy the ill-gotten funds or place them out of the reach of his clients. In fact, the Court continues to accept restitution as a factor in mitigation and should continue to do so.

In more recent cases, the Court may be perceived to have relaxed the standards expressed in <u>Breed</u> and <u>Pincket</u>. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Padgett</u>, 501 So.2d 593 (Fla. 1987) the attorney pled nolo contendere to two counts resulting in the referee recommending a finding of guilt for violating twelve Rules including Integration Rule 11.02(3)(a) (conduct contrary to honesty, justice or good morals); Rule 11.02(4) (mishandling trust funds); Rules 1-102(A)(4) (conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation); 1-102(A)(6) (misconduct reflecting adversely on fitness to practice law); 2-106(E) (failure to prepare and execute written settlement statements); 9-102(B)(3) (inadequate trust records); 9-102(B)(4) (failing to promptly disburse funds after settlement); and 6-101(A)(3) (neglecting client's case). The referee recommended suspension for three months and one day, two years probation, audit of trust accounts and restitution. The Court <u>approved</u> the

recommendation and added it on to an existing six month suspension that Padgett was serving. Other attorneys have received similar sanctions for similar infractions: a six month suspension for violation of Rules 1-102(A)(4) (engaging in conduct involving fraud, misrepresentation, dishonesty and deceit); 1-102(A)(6) (conduct reflecting adversely on fitness to practice law, two counts); abandoning the law practice; neglecting a client's case and others. The Florida Bar v. Shannon, 506 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 1987); numerous "technical and substantive trust accounting improprieties" resulting in a client's loss of \$20,000.00 and non compliance with trust accounting procedures resulting in a public reprimand and three years probation. The Florida Bar v. Block, 500 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1987); lengthy and continuous failure to comply with trust account record-keeping requirements despite previous private reprimand, coupled with intermingling of personal and trust account funds warranted public reprimand, two years probation and quarterly The Florida Bar v. Mitchell, 493 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1986); commingling funds, failing to keep adequate trust account records and failing to reduce contingency fee agreements to writing warranted a public reprimand and one years probation with quarterly review of records. The Florida Bar v. Aaron, 490 So.2d 941 (Fla. 1986). case of The Florida Bar v. Hosner, 513 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 1987) the Court cited the Mitchell and Aaron cases as well as the case of The Florida Bar v. Staley, 457 So.2d 489 (Fla. 1984) and remarked that these were more serious cases where such misconduct has been combined with other additional violations and in second-offense cases but still resulted in only public reprimand and probation.

Despite this line of cases and those of  $\underline{\mathtt{Breed}}$  and  $\underline{\mathtt{Pincket}}$ , the Bar would have the Court throw out its well considered position in cases of

this nature, remove the salutary effect of recognizing restitution as a factor in mitigation and impose the severest sanction possible under the Rules for the purpose of sending, as the Bar puts it in its brief, a "clear message" to others who may be otherwise willing to come forward and admit their misappropriations, cooperate with the Bar in its investigation and make the effort to make their clients whole again.

The referee's recommended discipline is consistent with the Court's previous decisions in similar cases and should be adopted by the Court.

#### CONCLUSION

The issue before the Court is whether to accept the referee's recommended disciplinary sanctions in this case. The recommended sanctions track nearly exactly the sanctions given other attorneys in similar or even more egregious situations. The recommended sanctions were carefully considered by the referee who heard the testimony and the evidence, are fully supported by the record and should not be rejected by the Court.